FOL SUPPOME COURT

Office Deputy Stark

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

Case No. 85,003

TFB No. 94-11,120(6A)

BILLY A. BRAKEFIELD,

Respondent.

## INITIAL BRIEF

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Petition for Review In a Disciplinary Proceeding

> BILLY A. BRAKEFIELD, ESQ. 2018 Society Drive Holiday, Florida 34691 (813) 942-0454 FLorida Bar #217522

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On October 10, 1995 a FINAL REPORT OF REFEREE was signed by Hon. James S. Moody, Jr., Referee. Said report incorporated the REPORT OF REFEREE, dated July 20, 1995. It is the recommendation of the Referee that the Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of six (6) months, and thereafter until he shall prove rehabilitation; that he be placed on one (1) year of probation consecutive to his current term of probation which ends on or about April 27, 1996; that prior to reinstatement, he be required to attend and successfully complete the The Florida Bar's Ethics School, at his own expense; and that he be assessed the Bar's costs in these proceedings. The terms of probation are recommended that the Respondent reimburse Francis R. Lakel, Esq., \$110.00 and otherwise abide by the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The facts in this matter are greatly disputed. What is undisputed is that Joseph Scarfo owned two printing and packing businesses. Scarfo's stepson, Walter Bennetti, worked for him. At all time relevant to this matter, Respondent was a member in good standing of the Florida Bar. Respondent met Scarfo and Bennetti through utilizing their copying services.

The Referee found that the Respondent owned and operated a used car lot and did business, assumably legal business, out of this car lot. A simple check of the Florida Division of Motor Vehicle (DMV) would reveal that Respondent has never owned or operated a used car lot. The referee found that Respondent

performed an investigation into a potential claim of Scarfo against a supply company known as Multigraphics for, according to Scarfo, prematurely removing a copying machine from his business premises, thereby causing a loss of business and profit. The facts hereafter are subject to conflicting testimony. The Respondent's testimony was that the potential case was weak and Scarfo was so notified. Scarfo and Bennetti testified that the Respondent told them that suit had actually been filed. The referee found that the evidence in this matter did not rise to a clear and convincing level to make a finding of misrepresentation in this matter, but did make other findings relative to Multigraphics that he found to be violations.

The referee then considered Respondent's representation of Scarfo in a commercial landlord/tenant action filed against Scarfo for failure by Scarfo to pay rent. Said action was filed by Richard J. Cory, an attorney representing himself. Scarfo had not paid rent for several months. He claimed that this was intentially withheld because of a bad odor emanating from a pet shop nearby and that the rent money was "placed in escrow". Bennetti later admitted that no such money was ever escrowed. The referee apparently failed to take into consideration that Scarfo was sued for non-payment of rent at his other business location which Respondent was able to sucessfully defend at a non-jury trial. Said defense was based on a problem with the introduction into evidence of a lease; Scarfo had in fact not paid his rent. He was later sucessfully evicted in an action in which Respondent was not consulted. He was later evicted at yet another location after Cory. Despite his history of non-payment

of rent at his business locations, the referee apparantly believed that all of Scarfo's actions here were in good faith, that Scarfo actually believed he had a cause of action or defense, and that Scarfo's hiring of Respondent and his instuctions to said attorney were for more than for a brief delay to allow him to locate yet another location.

The Referee next considered Respondent's representation of Scarfo and his wife in an action by Bernard Cisco and Jacquelyn Cisco for non-payment of installment payments by the Scarfos on the purchase of the printing and shipping business located in the premises located in Cory's shopping center. The Referee found that Failed to appear at a deposition, failed to notify Scarfo of the deposition and failed to appear at a hearing on a Motion to Compel Attendance at Deposition and for an award of attorney's fees.

Finally, the Referee considered Respondent's alleged representation of Scarfo in a matter of damages to Scarfo's condominium unit. Scarfo's testimony is disputed by Respondent and was found by the Referee to not rise to the level of clear and convincing.

Respondent is Petitioning for Review the Referee's findings that Respondent's conduct, taken in its totality, violates Rules 4-1.1, Rule 4-1.3, Rule 4-1.4(a), Rule 4-1.4(b), and Rule 1.16(d), and the severity of the recommendation as to disciplinary measures to be applied.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent's position is that the Referee's findings of fact are not adequately supported by the evidence presented. On the one hand he finds that the testimony of Scarfo is not up to a clear and convincing level, yet he goes on to find, based solely on Scarfo's testimony, that Respondent's conduct violated Bar Rules. That in a case which is based almost exclusively on disputed testimony, where the one parties testimony is not up to a clear and convincing standard, it is unfair and inequitable and not up to the requisite burden of proof to make findings of guilt of Rules violations. Such findings constitute an abuse of dicretion.

That the Referee's findings, even if taken in toto, fail to justify the severity of the recommended disciplinary measures. That the Supreme Court's record is replete with cases in which an attorney is found to have committed far more egregious conduct than is alleged here without the severity of the Referee's recommendations.

That the Referee failed to consider any mitigating factors such as the absense of dishonest or selfish motive on the part Respondent, personal problems of the Respondent during this time period, unreasonable delay in disciplinay proceedings resulting in prejudice to Respondent resulting from such delay, such as the normal inability to recall specific conversations two to three years after the fact, or remorse on the part of Respondent.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Referee in a disciplinary proceeding sits as the trier of facts. As the trier of facts he is given wide discretion as to his findings of fact and his findings of facts will normally stand absent a showing of abuse of discretion. It is the Respondent's position that for the Referee to find a violation of Bar Rules based on less than clear and convincing evidence is such an abuse of discretion.

This case is based primarily and almost exclusively on the testimony of Joseph Scarfo. In considering his testimony, the Referee found in several instances less than a clear and convincing level, yet goes on to make findings of fact based on this same witness and testimony that the Respondent, despite refuting Scarfo's testimony, violated Bar Rules. The evidence presented is inadequate to support the findings made by the Referee. The evidence presented is legally insufficient to meet the burden of proof that Respondent did in fact violate said Rules.

The Referee has made various findings of fact. The Respondent challenges the legal sufficiency of those findings. However, if the Referee's finding do stand, it is the position of the Respondent that the Referee's Recommendation as to Disciplinary Measures to be Applied are too severe, considering the nature of the conduct, the character, actions and credibility of Joseph Scarfo, the nature of the alleged misconduct of the Respondent, the actual injury or lack thereof to Joseph Scarfo, and the totality of the circumstances. In deciding appropriate sanctions in disciplary actions, three purposes

must be served: It must be fair to society, it must be fair to the attorney, and it must adequately deter other attorneys from engaging in similar conduct. <u>FLORIDA BAR v. WASSERMAN</u>, 654 So2d 905 (Fla 1995). Society demands that a disgruuntled client have his day in Court to air his grievances, that is fair. However, the Court must consider the actions of that client as well as his testimony to be fair to the attorney. Sanctions should and must be imposed on attorneys guilty of misconduct and I as the Respondent herein have admitted to the Referee that I have violated the spirit of the Rules by failing to attend the deposition in the Cisco matter, but I deny the appropriate sanction should be as severe as recommended.

The history and record of the Supreme Court in attorney disciplinary matters is replete with cases in which an attorney has been found to have committed far more egregious conduct than is alleged here with less sanction imposed. In FLORIDA BAR v.

ST. LAURENT, 617 So2d 1055 (Fla 1993), the attorney was guilty of violations including conversion of client's funds, a far more serious matter than any conduct alleged herein, and he was suspended for a period of ninety-one (91) days. FLORIDA BAR v.

FORRESTER, 656 So2d 1273(Fla 1995), concerned an attorney found guilty of charging an excessive fee as well as trust account violations, again more serious violations than herein, he too was suspended for ninety-one (91) days. FLORIDA BAR v. DANIEL, 641 So2d 1331(Fla 1994), involved an attorney found guilty of neglect of a legal matter when previous disciplinary suspensions were in-

wovled was likewise suspended for ninety-one (91) days. <u>FLORIDA</u>

<u>BAR v. CARSWELL</u>, 624 So2d 259 (Fla 1993) concerned an attorney

found guilty of tampering with a witness, again a far more serious

matter than involved here. He was suspended for one hundred eighty

(180) days.

The Referee failed to consider any mitigating factors as set forth in the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Rule 9.32. Respondent contends that this was an abuse of judicial discretion.

It is the province of the Supreme Court to impose sanctions, not the Referee and it is Respondent's position that the Referee's recommendations are too severe and unsupported by the record. It is Respondent's further position that the both the Report of the Referee and the Final Report of the Referee are subject to being striken as not being timely submitted.

### CONCLUSION

The Referee's findings of fact are inadequately supported by the record and the burden of proof necessary to make a formal finding of violations of Bar Rules has not been met with clear and convincing evidence. To find that the Respondent violated said rules with less than clear and convincing evidence amounts to an abuse of judicial discretion. The record contradicts the conclusions drawn by the Referee.

That even if the Referee's findings stand, his recommendation as to disciplinary measures are too severe and failed to adequately consider any mitigating factors for the conduct involved.

Respondent respectfully requests that this Court reverse the findings of the Referee, or at least to impose a less severe sanction on the Respondent.