IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BILLY A. BRAKEFIELD,

Petitioner,

v.

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Respondent.

Case No. 85,003 TFB No. 94-11,120(6A)

FILE EID J. WHITE 1996 CLERK SUPREME COURT Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF

THE FLORIDA BAR

SUSAN R. GRALLA Zeman Kiewicz Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, FL 33607 (813) 875-9821 Attorney No. 747130

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The referee's findings of fact and conclusions of law are supported by clear and convincing evidence in the record and should be upheld. The referee based his findings of fact on the testimony of several witnesses as well as numerous documentary exhibits presented by the Bar, and not as Respondent suggests, primarily and almost exclusively on the testimony of Joseph Scarfo.

The Bar presented competent, substantial evidence that Respondent failed to diligently and competently represent his clients, that Respondent abandoned his clients without first withdrawing from representation, that Respondent failed to advise his clients that he was declining representation on some legal matters, and that Respondent failed to protect his clients' interests upon withdrawal.

Respondent failed to appear at a hearing on behalf of his client or to file a motion to vacate a default entered against his client. Respondent failed to personally appear at a second hearing, and his failure to do so prevented his client from introducing pertinent documents. Respondent failed to

appear at a deposition or to notify his clients of the deposition. Respondent then failed to appear at a hearing on plaintiff's motion for sanctions, resulting in Respondent's clients being assessed costs and attorney's fees. Respondent failed to advise his clients that he was declining legal representation in another matter. Upon termination of representation, Respondent failed to timely return to his clients, documents relevant to that representation to which his clients were entitled.

Respondent's neglect of his clients' legal matters was intentional in that Respondent knew, or should have known, that the consequences of his actions would have a detrimental effect on those clients. On several occasions, Respondent failed to take action on his clients' behalf and his clients suffered as a result.

Respondent's contention that undue delay in the disciplinary proceedings was prejudicial to him is totally without merit and unsupported in the record.

The referee's recommended sanctions for the Respondent's misconduct are reasonable and warranted and should be upheld.

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD AND SHOULD BE UPHELD.

The referee's findings of fact in attorney disciplinary proceedings should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. <u>The Florida Bar v. Vannier</u>, 498 So. 2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986).

The referee herein listened to testimony and evidence presented by the parties, observed the demeanor of witnesses, and found that Respondent violated Rules 4-1.1, 4-1.3, 4-1.4(a), 4-1.4(b), and 4-1.16(d), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The Respondent takes the position that the evidence presented is legally insufficient to meet the required burden of proof since his testimony conflicts at times with that of his clients, Joseph Scarfo and Walter Bennetti (IB, p. 8). This Court has held that the referee, as fact finder, properly resolves conflicts in the evidence. <u>The Florida Bar v. Hoffer</u>, 383 So. 2d 639, 642 (Fla. 1980).

Because the referee is in a better position to evaluate

the demeanor and credibility of witnesses, the referee's findings of fact in attorney disciplinary proceedings should be upheld so long as those findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence. <u>The Florida Bar v. Marable</u>, 645 So. 2d 438 (Fla. 1994).

Respondent maintains that "the case is based primarily and almost exclusively on the testimony of Joseph Scarfo" (IB, p. 8). A review of the record herein clearly indicates that the referee's findings were based on the testimony of several witnesses as well as substantial documentary evidence, and not on the testimony of any one person. The referee heard testimony of five witnesses presented by the Bar: the Respondent, Walter Bennetti, Francis R. Lakel, Esq. (opposing counsel in <u>Cisco v. Scarfo</u>), Linda Lyman (Florida Bar employee), and Joseph Scarfo. In addition, the Bar introduced twenty-two (22) documentary exhibits, among which was an order imposing sanctions on Respondent's clients due to Respondent's neglect (Exh. #18).

The Bar presented evidence that Respondent had abandoned his clients without withdrawing as counsel, and that he took

no action to protect his clients' interests. Respondent's telephone was disconnected and he moved without informing his clients of a means of contacting him (T, pp. 81-82).

Respondent testified that he planned on moving to Missouri when he visited there in December of 1993 and January of 1994, but that he returned to Florida sometime in late January, 1994 (T, pp. 57-58). Even though Respondent was still representing Scarfo and Bennetti in pending legal matters, Respondent had no communication with them during his stay in Missouri, or at any time thereafter (T, p. 60). Respondent took no further action in any pending legal matters on behalf of Scarfo and Bennetti, failed to withdraw as counsel, and failed to inform his clients that he was ceasing legal representation.

Respondent attempts to mitigate his misconduct by claiming that Scarfo and Bennetti had not paid his legal fee. However, Respondent never billed his clients, and he received copying and mailing services from Scarfo and Bennetti in exchange for at least a portion of his legal services (T, pp. 8-9, 69). As this Court recently held in <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>King</u>, 664 So. 2d 925, 927 (Fla. 1995), while attorneys are

entitled to charge for their services, they cannot simply abandon a case once they have provided services without compensation.

Additionally, Respondent failed to return documents to his clients after he ceased representation, thus preventing them from obtaining other legal counsel to pursue their legal remedies. It was necessary to dispatch a Florida Bar investigator to locate the Respondent after his return from Missouri in order to obtain documents entrusted to him by Scarfo and Bennetti (T, pp. 167-173).

Respondent failed to return all documents provided to him by Scarfo and Bennetti, even after being requested to do so by The Florida Bar. Respondent admitted that he had taken Scarfo and Bennetti's client files to Missouri during December of 1993, and that he was unable to return some of the documents to them since he had left those documents in Missouri (T, pp. 66-67).

Respondent admitted that he failed to personally appear at the final hearing in Cory's Pinellas County eviction proceeding against Scarfo, and that he was unable to introduce

any supporting documentation on behalf of his client since he had the documentation in his possession and did not attend the hearing (T, pp. 46-47).

Respondent attempts to excuse this misconduct by claiming that the matter was moot because Scarfo had already planned to move to another business location, and Scarfo had not deposited the disputed rent into the registry of the court (T, pp. 42-48; IB, pp. 5-6). Scarfo testified, however, that he had no plans to move his business at that time (T, p. 142). Moreover, Scarfo was not ordered to place the disputed funds into the court registry until the conclusion of the final hearing on eviction which Respondent failed to attend (T, pp. 45-46; Exh. #15).

Respondent also attempts to justify his misconduct by claiming that Scarfo's defense to the Cory eviction action was made in bad faith, as a scam on the part of Scarfo to avoid payment of rent (RR, p. 5; IB, p. 5-6). If it were true, as Respondent suggests, that his client raised a defense in bad faith, the Respondent assisted his client with such a defense. By doing so, Respondent would have engaged in unethical

behavior. The Referee addressed this issue as follows:

"If it was a good faith meritorious defense, Brakefield should have been present in person to provide competent legal representation for his client. If the defense was not meritorious and not raised in good faith, it should not have been raised merely to unnecessarily protract litigation (RR, pp. 5-6).

Respondent further contends that the referee failed to take into consideration that Scarfo had previously been evicted from a business location, and was evicted after the Cory litigation (IB, pp. 5-6).

Respondent fails to understand that the outcome of litigation against his client which is not the subject of the instant case should have no bearing on the referee's findings. It is of no relevance whether Respondent's client had been previously evicted. What is relevant is that Respondent failed to provide diligent and competent representation to that client in the Cory eviction proceedings.

Respondent also admitted that he failed to attend scheduled depositions in <u>Cisco v. Scarfo;</u> that he failed to advise his clients of those depositions; that he failed to advise opposing counsel that he would not be attending the

depositions; and that he failed to attend a hearing on the plaintiff's motion for sanctions. As a direct result, fees and costs were assessed against Respondent's client (Exh. #18).

In contrast to the substantial evidence presented by the Bar, Respondent called no witnesses, and introduced only one exhibit, the final judgment in <u>Cory v. Scarfo</u> (Exh. #21). Respondent offered no plausible reason for his failure to attend a hearing, either in person or telephonically, on the Cory proceeding in Broward County. Respondent offered no plausible reason for his failure to file a Motion to Vacate Default entered against his client in that litigation. Furthermore, Respondent offered no plausible reason for his failure to attend the depositions or a hearing on plaintiff's motion for sanctions in <u>Cisco v. Scarfo</u>.

Respondent alleges that the Report of Referee is incorrect in that the referee erroneously found that Respondent owned and operated a used car lot and did business, presumably legal business, out of this car lot. Respondent states that "a simple check of the Florida Division of Motor Vehicle (sic) (DMV) would reveal that Respondent has never

owned or operated a used car lot." (IB, p. 4).

Respondent's own testimony refutes this allegation. In answer to Bar counsel's question, "How do you know Mr. Bennetti?", Respondent testified as follows:

"He ran a print shipping pack store in Largo, Florida. I went in to have some copies made and we struck up a conversation. I had a business, <u>I owned</u> <u>a car lot next door or almost next door</u>" (emphasis added) (T, p. 6).

Since Respondent was testifying under oath, the referee properly assumed that Respondent's statement regarding his used car lot was true in the absence of contradictory evidence. Moreover, the referee had no duty to contact the Department of Motor Vehicles to verify the sworn statement of Respondent.

Finally, Respondent argues that the referee failed to consider what he terms "unreasonable delay in disciplinary proceedings resulting in prejudice to Respondent resulting from such delay, such as the normal inability to recall specific conversations two to three years after the fact..." (IB, p. 7). Respondent further requests that both the Report of Referee and the Final Report of Referee be stricken by this

Court as being untimely submitted (IB, p. 10).

Respondent's argument is clearly without merit. There is no indication in the record of an unreasonable delay in the disciplinary proceedings, and Respondent has presented no evidence that he was in any way prejudiced by such alleged delay in the proceedings.

The chronology of events in the instant disciplinary action is as follows: On February 10, 1994, The Florida Bar received Scarfo's sworn Inquiry/Complaint against Respondent. After receiving responses from Respondent and the complainant, Bar counsel forwarded the Inquiry/Complaint to the grievance committee on March 29, 1994. The grievance committee chair appointed an investigating member five (5) days later, on On September 15, 1994, the grievance March 29, 1994. committee held an evidentiary hearing, at which time probable cause was found. On October 15, 1994, the grievance committee voted to find probable cause on an additional rule violation and noticed Respondent of the same. On January 11, 1995, The Florida Bar filed its Complaint with this Court. Respondent filed his Answer on February 13, 1995, and a final hearing

before the referee was held on May 30, 1995. The court reporter mailed a transcript of the final hearing to the referee on June 12, 1995. On July 20, 1995, thirty-eight (38) days later, the referee issued his Report of Referee. On August 30, 1995, a Sanctions Hearing was held, and on September 7, 1995, the court reporter mailed the transcript of that hearing to the referee. On October 10, 1995, the referee issued his Final Report of Referee, incorporating his recommended sanctions.

Respondent maintains that he was prejudiced by his "inability to recall specific conversations two to three years after the fact". Yet, Respondent apparently took no action to refresh his memory of those conversations or of the events which were the subject of this disciplinary proceeding. Respondent testified before the referee that he never contacted Bar counsel prior to the final hearing to review his files (T, p. 32).

Inasmuch as Respondent attempts to raise timeliness of these proceedings as an issue, it should also be noted that Respondent failed to timely file his initial brief in this

cause. Respondent filed his Petition for Review on December 9, 1995, which was docketed by the Clerk of the Supreme Court on December 18, 1995, but Respondent did not file his brief until two (2) months later, on February 9, 1996. Respondent filed his brief only after the Clerk of this Court advised him that if he did not take appropriate action by February 9, 1996, the Court would consider the case without such brief.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Gland</u>, 453 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1984), the Bar filed its complaint against Gland on March 25, 1981. A second complaint was filed by the Bar on June 10, 1981, and a third complaint was filed on February 10, 1982. The referee did not issue his report on the consolidated cases until July 15, 1983, over two (2) years after the original complaint was filed.

The <u>Gland</u> court held that while excessive delay in a disciplinary proceeding might be considered in mitigation, dismissal of the complaints would totally frustrate the primary purpose of discipline, namely protection of the public from the misconduct of attorneys. <u>Id</u>. at 393-394.

In The Florida Bar v. Lehrman, 485 So. 2d 1276, 1278

(Fla. 1986), the respondent alleged that the referee's fourteen-month delay in issuing his report was grievously prejudicial. Lehrman, like the Respondent herein, failed to demonstrate any discernible prejudice resulting from such delay. The Lehrman court held that in the absence of such showing, a delay by the referee in filing his report will not invalidate the report.

This Court has held that the party seeking review has the burden of showing that the referee's findings are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. McClure</u>, 575 So. 2d 176, 177 (Fla. 1991). Unless that burden is met, the referee's findings will be upheld on review. <u>The Florida Bar v. Hirsch</u>, 359 So. 2d 856 (Fla. 1978).

Respondent has presented no substantive evidence to support his position that the referee's report is clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. Respondent has also failed to show an unreasonable delay in the disciplinary proceedings or any discernible prejudice resulting from such alleged delay.

The referee's findings of fact and conclusions of law are

supported by clear and convincing evidence in the record and should be upheld.

II. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED SANCTIONS FOR THE RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT ARE REASONABLE AND WARRANTED AND SHOULD BE UPHELD.

Bar counsel recommended to the referee that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for one year for his misconduct in this case (ST, pp. 14-15). However, the Bar chose not to oppose the referee's recommended sanction of a six-month suspension followed by a one-year probation as the recommended sanction appears to be reasonable and warranted, and would require the Respondent to provide proof of rehabilitation prior to reinstatement.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provide a format for Bar counsel, referee, and this Court to determine the appropriate sanction in attorney disciplinary matters. The following Standards apply in the instant case.

Standard 4.12 provides that absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances,

"suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knows or should know that he is dealing improperly with client property and causes injury or potential injury to a client.

Respondent admitted that he transported to Missouri,

client files containing certain documents supplied to him by Scarfo and Bennetti, and that he failed to return some of those files to Florida when he returned (T, pp. 66-67). Respondent abandoned the legal representation of Scarfo and Bennetti without notifying them, and without returning their documents. Respondent's clients were injured by Respondent's improper handling of their property when Respondent retained the original Multigraphics contract in his possession, thus preventing his clients from pursuing legal action under that contract. By the time his clients were finally able to secure contract several months later, they had suffered the considerable business losses due to the removal of the copy machine supplied by Multigraphics.

Respondent also failed to return to Scarfo, the original estimates of damage to his condominium caused by the water leak in Singer's unit, thus preventing Scarfo from pursuing this matter.

Standard 4.42 states that absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances,

"suspension is appropriate when (a) a lawyer

knowingly fails to perform services for a client and causes injury or potential injury to a client; or (b) a lawyer engages in a pattern of neglect and causes injury or potential injury to a client.

Respondent had a duty to expedite his clients' litigation, to bring his clients' meritorious claims, to avoid unreasonable delay, and to take whatever lawful and ethical measures were required to vindicate his client's cause, despite personal inconvenience to himself (comment to Rule 4-1.3).

Respondent testified that he never intended to travel to Broward County to represent Scarfo in the Cory litigation (T, p. 33). Respondent knowingly refused to either travel to Broward County or to seek the Court's permission to appear telephonically at the hearing on Plaintiff's Motion in Opposition to Change of Venue. Respondent knowingly failed to file a motion to vacate the default entered against his client, even though Cory urged him to do so (T, pp. 28-29). As a direct result of Respondent's refusal to act, the Court entered final judgment against Respondent's client (Exh. #18).

Respondent continued to engage in a pattern of misconduct

when he later failed to personally appear at a hearing in Tampa on the <u>Cory v. Scarfo</u> eviction action, thus preventing his client from introducing pertinent documents. Finally, Respondent refused to appear at scheduled depositions or a hearing on plaintiff's motion for sanctions in the <u>Cisco v.</u> <u>Scarfo</u> litigation, thus allowing the imposition of sanctions against his client.

Standard 4.63 provides that absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances,

"public reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer negligently fails to provide a client with accurate or complete information, and causes injury to potential injury to a client.

Respondent failed to keep his clients informed of the status and progress, or lack thereof, in the Multigraphics matter (RR, p. 8). Moreover, Respondent may have misled his clients into believing that the Multigraphics suit had been filed and that the litigation was progressing (T, pp. 76-80, 130-131).

Respondent's failure to provide his clients with accurate information in the Multigraphics matter destroyed their legal

position. By the time Scarfo and Bennetti learned that Respondent had taken no action on their behalf, the time limit imposed by the Multigraphics contract in which they were required to take action to enforce that contract had passed (T, pp. 179-181).

Respondent's failure to inform his clients of scheduled depositions or a hearing on sanctions in the Cisco litigation also had disastrous results, with the Scarfos being assessed costs and attorney's fees due to Respondent's neglect (Exh. #18).

Respondent's pattern of non-communication with his clients continued in the Singer matter when Respondent once again failed to inform his clients that he was declining to file suit against Singer or to pursue the legal representation.

Standard 7.2 provides that absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances,

"suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system.

Respondent had a duty, upon termination of representation, to take steps reasonably practicable to protect his clients' interests, including giving reasonable notice to his clients, allowing time for employment of other counsel, and surrendering papers and property to which his clients were entitled.

The referee found that Respondent had improperly withdrawn from the Multigraphics matter, the Singer matter, and the Cisco litigation (RR, p. 8). Respondent caused injury to his clients when he failed to notify them of his withdrawal so that they could obtain other counsel, and when he failed to timely surrender to his clients, property to which they were entitled.

Standard 9.22 lists several aggravating factors which may justify an increase in the degree of discipline to be imposed. The following aggravating factors apply in the instant case:

- (a) prior disciplinary offenses;
- (c) a pattern of misconduct;
- (d) multiple offenses;
- (i) substantial experience in the practice of law; and
- (j) indifference to making restitution.

Respondent was admitted to The Florida Bar on November

19, 1976, and has received the following discipline:

On February 2, 1992, Respondent received an admonishment for failure to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client. In February of 1991, the Respondent was retained to file a Chapter 7 Bankruptcy petition, but failed to file the petition until June of 1991.

On October 27, 1994, Respondent received a public reprimand and was placed on eighteen-months probation for failure to act with reasonable diligence and competence when representing a client, failure to communicate the basis or rate of fee, and failure to keep a client reasonably informed or to respond to his client's reasonable requests for information. The Respondent was retained to procure step-parent adoptions of his client's two children carry the matter through to failed to and Respondent's neglect and failure to completion. communicate with his client required that client to obtain the services of a second attorney to complete the adoptions.

It is well established that in rendering discipline, this Court deals more harshly with cumulative misconduct than it does with isolated instances of misconduct, and cumulative misconduct of a similar nature warrants an even more severe sanction than might dissimilar misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Greenspahn, 396 So. 2d 182, 183 (Fla. 1981); The Florida Bar v. Bern, 425 So. 2d 526, 528 (Fla. 1983). As previously noted, Respondent was admonished in 1992 for neglecting his

client's legal matters, the very type of misconduct exhibited by Respondent in the instant case.

Standard 9.32 lists several mitigating factors which may justify a reduction in the degree of discipline to be imposed. Respondent maintains that the referee failed to consider the following mitigating factors: the absence of a dishonest or selfish motive on the part of Respondent; personal problems of Respondent; unreasonable delay in the disciplinary proceedings; and remorse on the part of Respondent (IB, p. 7).

A review of the record indicates, however, that Respondent failed to present any evidence of such mitigation at the Sanctions Hearing. Respondent made no mention until his initial brief of any "personal problems". Respondent has never identified what personal problems he is referring to or stated how those alleged problems adversely affected his judgment during the time he was representing Scarfo and Bennetti.

Respondent has demonstrated no evidence of remorse. Likewise, Respondent has presented no evidence of prejudice caused by any alleged delay in the disciplinary proceedings as

required under The Florida Bar v. Lehrman, supra.

Furthermore, Respondent admitted that his prior disciplinary history as presented by Bar counsel at the Sanctions Hearing was true and accurate (ST, p. 19).

The referee's recommended sanction is also supported by the relevant case law:

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Pincus</u>, 327 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 1976), the attorney neglected the interests of certain clients seeking discharge in bankruptcy. As a result, the referee in bankruptcy entered an Order to Show Cause why the clients should not be deemed to have waived discharge. Pincus failed to respond or to appear at the hearing on the Order to Show Cause and the bankruptcy referee disallowed Pincus' clients' discharge in bankruptcy.

In other misconduct similar to that exhibited by the Respondent herein, a default judgment was taken against a client due to Pincus' neglect. In a separate matter, the holder of a promissory note in default engaged Pincus to collect on the note. After Pincus failed to file suit, the client asked for the return of the promissory note and other

papers. Pincus failed to return the documents. Pincus was suspended for one year and required to take a course in legal ethics prior to reinstatement. <u>Id</u>. at 30.

In The Florida Bar v. Hoffer, 383 S. 2d 639 (Fla. 1980) attorney filed a Petition for Modification the of а dissolution of marriage order on behalf of his client, and thereafter failed to appear at the hearing on his petition, failed to notify his client or the presiding judge that he would not be attending, and failed to request a continuance. As a result thereof, the matter was dismissed. This Court found a one-year suspension to be the appropriate discipline for Hoffer's misconduct, with the suspension to run concurrently with a two-year suspension previously imposed for a separate violation. Id. at 859.

Respondent's misconduct is also analogous to that in <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Hotaling</u>, 470 So. 2d 689, 691 (Fla. 1985), in which the attorney was found guilty of neglecting a legal matter entrusted to her and failing to promptly deliver to her client, property the client was entitled to receive. Hotaling was suspended for eighteen (18) months, required to pass the

entire Bar examination prior to reinstatement, and placed on eighteen (18) months probation thereafter.

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